RECEIVED

Dec 15 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Pickens County
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2020-UP-269 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 23, 2020)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN WILLIAM MCCARTY,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000062

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding “the trial court did not err in failing to resolve evidentiary conflicts or in abdicating its role as fact finder” where the trial court found that whether the third party, on whose behalf Petitioner was interceding, was at fault in bringing on the difficulty presented a “quintessential jury question” under the Protection of Persons and Property Act?

II. Did the Court of Appeals err by ruling, in the alternative, that the trial judge did not err by failing to find Petitioner was immune from prosecution under the Act where Petitioner proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he acted in defense of others?

STATEMENT

On December 8, 2015, a Pickens County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2015-GS-39-2275) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2015-GS-39-2276). R. 564-569. Petitioner moved for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act (hereinafter “the Act”) found at Section 16-11-410, et seq. of the South Carolina Code. R. 2, ll. 10-14. On February 23, 2017, the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin heard evidence and argument on the motion. R. 1. Baker Cleveland and Britni McCall represented the state. R. 1. Robert Newton represented Petitioner. R. 1. By an order dated April 7, 2017, Judge Verdin denied Petitioner’s request for immunity. R. 132-135.

Thereafter, the state called the case to trial on October 16-18, 2017. R. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 541, ll. 11-22. Judge Verdin sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment for murder and to five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 543, ll. 13-17; R. 564-569. She ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 543, l. 16; R. 564-569.

On October 26, 2017, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. Petitioner then filed his brief, challenging the trial judge’s ruling on his motion for immunity. On September 23, 2020, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge’s ruling denying Petitioner immunity. State v. McCarty, 2020-UP-269 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 23, 2020). The Court of Appeals found “the trial court did not err in failing to resolve evidentiary conflicts or in abdicating its role by finding whether Randy Wilson, the person McCarty was protecting, acted in self-defense was a jury question.” Id. The Court of Appeals concluded that Judge Verdin’s finding that “whether Wilson was at fault in bringing on the difficulty presented a jury question” was not an abdication of the trial court’s role as fact finder. Id. Further, the Court of Appeals held Judge Verdin did not err in denying Petitioner’s request for immunity because Petitioner failed to prove by a preponderance of the

evidence that Wilson was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty and therefore entitled to self-defense. Id.

On October 8, 2020, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. The Court of Appeals denied the petition on December 21, 2020. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari, which this Court granted on November 10, 2021. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts review a claim of immunity under the Act using an abuse of discretion standard of review. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); see also State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Douglas, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237 (internal citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred by holding “the trial court did not err in failing to resolve evidentiary conflicts or in abdicating its role as fact finder” where the trial court found that whether the third party, on whose behalf Petitioner was interceding, was at fault in bringing on the difficulty presented a “quintessential jury question” under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Relevant facts

In 2015, Randy Wilson and Petitioner were partners for almost thirty years. R. 10, ll. 3-12; R. 74, ll. 13-22. The two lived in a trailer in Liberty. R. 4, ll. 17-24; R. 5, ll. 11-23. Around 2013, Jacob Kirk was down on his luck with nowhere to go when Wilson and Petitioner agreed to allow him to live with them. R. 4, ll. 15-19; R. 8, ll. 8-12; R. 85, ll. 8-13. The arrangement worked well for a time because Kirk, who did not pay rent, assisted Wilson with household chores that Wilson was no longer able to do as a result of an old injury to his neck. R. 8, l. 13 – R. 9, l. 8; R. 9, ll. 20-24; R. 85, ll. 17-21. When Wilson was sixteen-years old, he was riding a bicycle after an interview for his first job. R. 6, ll. 6-7. Suddenly, a car going sixty-five miles per hour hit him. R. 6, ll. 7-8. Wilson suffered a broken neck as a result. R. 6, ll. 8-10. Over the years, Wilson’s neck pain intensified greatly limiting his functioning and abilities. R. 7, ll. 14-23.

On July 15, 2015, Kirk’s brother, Mitchell Bradley, was visiting Kirk at Wilson and Petitioner’s home. R. 4, ll. 15-16; R. 49, ll. 14-19; R. 84, l. 25 – R. 85, l. 2; R. 86, ll. 2-5. Petitioner arrived home from work between 5:30 p.m. and 6:30 p.m. R. 49, ll. 1-7. Wilson arrived home from running errands around 7 p.m. R. 11, ll. 20-22; R. 49, l. 19. Wilson prepared dinner for the foursome upon his arrival home. R. 12, ll. 2-4. Wilson and Petitioner ate their dinner. R. 12, l. 4; R. 49, ll. 20-23. Wilson put two plates of food in the microwave for Kirk and Bradley. R. 12, ll.

4-6. Wilson then spoke to his niece on the phone, and Petitioner went to bed. R. 12, ll. 8-9; R. 50, l. 1 – R. 51, l. 20; R. 66, ll. 16-19.

While Wilson was on the phone, Kirk interrupted him about the food. R. 12, ll. 9-10; R. 87, ll. 5-9. Wilson admonished him for interrupting, which angered Kirk. R. 12, ll. 11-13. Kirk then hit Wilson in the shoulder. R. 12, ll. 14-15. When Wilson told Kirk, he was being rude, Kirk grew incensed. R. 12, ll. 16-17; R. 88, ll. 18-19. Wilson then called the police because Kirk was “out of control.” R. 12, l. 19; R. 89, ll. 2-13. On the call with 911, Kirk can be heard threatening to slice Wilson. R. 31, ll. 12-15.

Wilson told Kirk and Bradley that he wanted them to leave. R. 12, l. 22 – R. 13, l. 3; R. 87, ll. 11-12. Kirk readily agreed to leave and began packing his belongings. R. 13, ll. 1-3; R. 42, ll. 12-15; R. 88, ll. 21-22. Bradley, however, refused to leave. R. 13, ll. 19-20; R. 14, ll. 4-6. In response to Wilson’s call, two police officers arrived. R. 13, ll. 13-14; R. 78, l. 18 – R. 79, l. 1. According to one of the officers, Wilson, Kirk, and Bradley were “grossly intoxicated.” R. 79, ll. 6-24; see also R. 56, ll. 10-11; R. 88, ll. 2-11; R. 105, ll. 6-13. While the police were at the residence, Petitioner remained in his bedroom. R. 80, ll. 1-14; R. 50, l. 21 – R. 51, l. 4. According to Petitioner, when the officer looked into the bedroom, the officer told him there was no reason for him to get up because the situation was under control. R. 50, l. 21 – R. 51, l. 2; R. 51, ll. 16-17; R. 68, ll. 2-3. Petitioner went back to sleep. R. 51, ll. 2-4; R. 51, l. 18.

Wilson asked the officers to make Bradley leave. R. 15, ll. 3-9; R. 80, ll. 15-24. However, the officers refused to make Bradley leave. R. 15, ll. 15-21; R. 81, ll. 21-25; R. 90, ll. 10-14. According to the officers, Bradley was invited by Kirk, who was a resident; therefore, Wilson could not expel him. R. 15, ll. 15-17; R. 80, ll. 22-24; R. 81, ll. 15-20. Wilson pleaded with the officers “to do something” because he feared Kirk and Bradley would “get onto [him] again.” R.

15, ll. 21-23. Nevertheless, the police left. R. 82, ll. 1-7. Kirk then walked to Wilson and said, “[S]ee, just because it’s your property doesn’t mean that you get to control everything that goes on here.” R. 92, ll. 2-6.

To facilitate Kirk’s leaving, Wilson began fixing his truck. R. 15, ll. 8-13. Bradley walked over to the truck and placed his beer can on the radiator. R. 14, ll. 14-16. While Wilson was reaching for a tool, he knocked over Bradley’s beer. R. 14, ll. 16-19. Bradley flew into a rage, grabbing Wilson by his arm and slinging him around. R. 14, ll. 19-2. When Wilson explained he did not intentionally knock over the beer, Bradley left him alone. R. 14, l. 24 – R. 15, l. 1.

After Wilson finished working on the truck, he started walking up the steps to reach the porch where Bradley was. R. 16, ll. 3-4. Bradley stood at the steps and hit Wilson’s headlamp to turn it off and asked what he was going to do about it. R. 16, ll. 4-9. Bradley’s position on the steps would not permit Wilson to get up to the porch so Wilson pushed him to the side. R. 16, ll. 10-12.¹ According to Kirk, Wilson was “shuffling through [Bradley]’s stuff” “like cigarette tubes where he rolls his own cigarettes,” “just making a mess of things, throwing his stuff around.” R. 92, ll. 8-13. Kirk explained that he knew “those all aren’t things to get upset about. But to some people, it’s an attack to their character.” R. 106, ll. 15-17. He analogized messing with cigarettes to someone messing with “another person’s mother.” R. 106, ll. 17-19. He explained that even though it was not to that person directly, the person would retaliate. R. 106, ll. 17-20.

Bradley then shoved Wilson down the steps. R. 16, ll. 12-13; R. 92, ll. 15-19; R. 93, ll. 9-12. Wilson’s fall broke his leg and two of the steps. R. 16, ll. 13-15; R. 25, ll. 2-19; R. 92, l. 19.

¹ The prosecutor impeached Wilson with a statement to law enforcement that he was pouring out Bradley’s beers, but Wilson explained that what he meant was that he spilled Bradley’s beer. R. 32, ll. 11-16. The prosecutor construed Wilson’s statement to police to mean that Wilson was “egging them on by pouring out their beers.” R. 32, ll. 19-22.

According to Kirk, Wilson began yelling for Petitioner while he was on the ground with his injuries from the fall. R. 93, ll. 13-17

Wilson then used the handrailing to get up from the concrete pad to which he had fallen. R. 16, ll. 19-21; R. 94, ll. 5-10. As Wilson scabbled up the steps, he knocked over another beer that was on the handrailing. R. 16, ll. 21-23; R. 37, ll. 9-10. Kirk claimed Wilson intentionally knocked the beer off the railing. R. 94, ll. 12-14. Wilson then reached for the door to enter his home, but he was shoved from behind by Bradley before he could enter. R. 16, l. 23 – R. 17, l. 1; R. 35, ll. 1-7; R. 37, ll. 9-12. It was undisputed that when Wilson was trying to get back into the house, he was retreating. R. 108, ll. 1-6; R. 109, ll. 12-16. Kirk agreed that Wilson “was trying to get away, trying to get back in the house and [Bradley] wasn’t letting him do that.” R. 109, ll. 12-16.

According to Kirk, Wilson knocking the beer over “incited [Bradley] to grab [Wilson] and push him into the corner.” R. 94, ll. 17-19. Frightened and in fear for his life, Wilson screamed for Petitioner. R. 17, ll. 1-2; R. 17, ll. 17-24; R. 19, ll. 11-15; R. 95, ll. 2-3. Petitioner heard Wilson’s screams – “a help cry of life-or death.” R. 51, ll. 18-20; R. 56, ll. 2-6.

Bradley was holding and shoving Wilson. R. 17, ll. 6-8.² Bradley was pushing Wilson over the bannister. R. 37, ll. 17-25. Kirk claimed Bradley was “popping” Wilson in the face with an open hand. R. 95, ll. 4-9. Kirk believed Bradley was trying to “incite him to throw the first punch.” R. 95, ll. 12-13. While Bradley popped Wilson in the face, Bradley repeatedly asked why he was “hollering for [Petitioner].” R. 95, ll. 16-18.

²Wilson was 5’8” and between 145 and 180 pounds. R. 44, ll. 11-13; R. 103, ll. 7-8. Bradley was 5’11” and 150 pounds. R. 102, l. 25 – R. 103, l. 1. Bradley was approximately twenty-three years old at the time. R. 45, ll. 7-12. Bradley was considerably stronger than Wilson. R. 45, ll. 13-14.

Wilson saw Bradley draw back to punch him, but Bradley did not because Petitioner appeared and fired a warning shot into the floor – hoping to diffuse the situation. R. 17, ll. 8-14; R. 39, ll. 13-14; R. 110, l. 25 – R. 111, l. 4; R. 52, ll. 17-21; R. 55, ll. 19-24; R. 56, ll. 7-10; R. 96, ll. 11-13. Kirk claimed that when Petitioner walked up, Wilson “threw a punch.” R. 96, ll. 16-17. Petitioner had tried, desperately, to open the door to get to the porch, but he was unable to do so because Bradley and Wilson were blocking the door. R. 39, ll. 8-12; R. 53, ll. 13-24; R. 60, ll. 21-23; R. 62, ll. 17-23; R. 97, ll. 8-19. Despite the warning shot, Bradley’s attack against Wilson continued. R. 20, ll. 10-18; R. 53, ll. 2-4. Then, Petitioner shot Bradley. R. 20, l. 19 – R. 21, l. 3; R. 39, ll. 15-22. Kirk claimed that after the warning shot, Wilson pushed Bradley off of him, which was when Petitioner shot Bradley. R. 96, ll. 23-25. Petitioner made clear that he shot Bradley because he feared Wilson would suffer serious bodily injury or death. R. 54, ll. 6-14; R. 15-18. Wilson performed CPR on Bradley while Kirk called 911. R. 21, ll. 4-12; R. 21, ll. 16-22; R. 82, ll. 16-23.

At the conclusion of the pre-trial hearing, Judge Verdin heard argument. Defense counsel pointed to the undisputed fact that Wilson asked Bradley to leave, but Bradley refused. R. 112, ll. 18-23; R. 112, ll. 12-17. Additionally, defense counsel argued “the facts [were] quite clear that [Wilson] was outside trying to get back into the house, trying to avoid a physical altercation.” R. 113, ll. 3-6. Despite Wilson’s obvious attempt to enter his home for safety, Bradley “pursued him, attacked him, and was physically assaulting him right outside the door so that [Petitioner] could not open the door afterwards.” R. 113, ll. 6-9. As defense counsel summarized, the evidence showed “this was no fault of [Petitioner]’s, certainly, and no fault of [Wilson].” R. 113, ll. 13-16.

Next, defense counsel emphasized the undisputed evidence of Wilson’s “weak condition, weak neck from an automobile accident in 1980.” R. 113, ll. 17-19. Defense counsel explained

the evidence showed Wilson “was in clear peril of having suffered great bodily injury, serious bodily injury.” R. 113, ll. 19-21. Petitioner was aware of Wilson’s “weakened condition” and of the danger posed to Wilson by Bradley. R. 113, ll. 23-24. Further, counsel argued “[t]here was no other reasonable alternative that [Petitioner] could have taken, under the circumstances, to avoid Randy Wilson sustaining, at least, serious bodily injury, and perhaps his life.” R. 113, l. 25 – R. 114, l. 4. Thus, Petitioner was entitled to immunity – he had “[t]he right to use, if necessary, deadly force in order to prevent serious bodily injuries to someone else.” R. 114, ll. 4-8.

After reading the statute, the prosecutor argued there were “a couple of key words in there that raise the jury questions.” R. 116, ll. 22-24. Nevertheless, the prosecutor consented the facts were not controverted. R. 116, ll. 24-25. The only controversy concerned how the facts were being argued. R. 116, l. 25 – R. 117, l. 2. Incredibly, the state argued that Wilson was engaged in unlawful activity by “destroying the property of another,” which was “something to egg this situation on.” R. 117, ll. 3-7. Additionally, according to the prosecutor, “that also plays into self-defense with him not being without fault for bringing about the difficulty.” R. 117, ll. 7-9.

Next, the state argued the statute permitted “meeting force with force,” but the circumstances presented two “grossly intoxicated individuals engaged in a fist fight from which no injuries [were] there that no gross threat came from. Yet, [Petitioner] jumped straight to using deadly force.” R. 117, ll. 10-18.

When the judge questioned whether the statute required consideration of what Petitioner reasonably believed, the prosecutor then changed tactics and argued that it was for the jury to say if Petitioner’s belief was reasonable. R. 117, l. 19 – R. 118, ll. 2-8. When the judge honed in on the fact that such an argument would mean that immunity would never be available during a pre-trial setting, the state changed tactics again, arguing “immunity is available at this stage if they

proved that fact *beyond* a preponderance of the evidence.” R. 118, ll. 11-13 (emphasis added). According to the state, “it could be completely reasonable to say that two people watching two drunks having a fight is not reasonable to pull a gun and shoot and kill the one they wanted to lose the fight.” R. 118, ll. 19-23. Using hyperbole, the state argued “using that logic, [Petitioner] could follow Mr. Wilson around anywhere and let Mr. Wilson pick fights and egg on people. And as soon as they swung a punch at him, because of his weak neck, whether they knew about it or not, he could shoot and kill them.” R. 118, l. 23 – R. 119, l. 3.

Additionally, and incorrectly, the state argued that Petitioner was required to prove that his conduct was “necessary” and that he had “no other means of doing it.” R. 119, ll. 5-11. According to the state, the fact that Petitioner first fired a warning shot was evidence that it was not a “life-or-death situation.” R. 119, ll. 12-19. The state theorized that “[i]f it [were] a perilous life-or-death situation, the reasonable thing would be to ... diffuse it immediately. You don’t need to fire a warning shot. There’s no duty in self-defense or defense of others to warn upon the use of deadly force if it is rightfully used.” R. 119, ll. 19-25. While the state conceded the warning shot was “an attempt to diffuse the situation,” the state argued “the law requires that his use of deadly force be the necessary means to do it.” R. 120, ll. 12-21.

Returning to its incorrect argument on necessity, the state argued “there’s plenty of room, factually, based on upon the testimony, that there’s other things he could have done, that killing Mitchell Bradley was not necessary.” R. 120, ll. 21-24. To this point, the state argued as follows:

Maybe he could have gotten out the door. It appears from Jacob Kirk’s testimony that he didn’t really struggle to try to get out the door. Maybe he could have run around and done it. Obviously, nobody was severely injured in the fist fight or slap fight or whatever was happening on the porch portion of this fight. The only injury that Mr. Wilson indicated was when he was pushed down the stairs. He got back up, and there’s testimony that he re-engaged, even after suffering this bad injury.

R. 120, l. 25 – R. 121, l. 10. Thereafter, the state transitioned to its argument that Wilson was at fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Explaining that “what the law allows is that an accused that provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense unless he both withdraws from the conflict and communicates his withdrawal by word or act to the adversary,” R. 123, l. 21 – R. 124, l. 1, the state opined Wilson did not withdraw. R. 125, ll. 1-5. After noting that one who claims defense of others has the right to kill the assailant only if the one being defended had the right to do so, the state argued there was “testimony that [Wilson] provoked the situation and because he is at fault with bringing about the difficulty, then that element of self-defense is not satisfied, and therefore, is not available to him.” R. 124, ll. 7-12. Thus, according to the prosecutor, self-defense was not available to Petitioner. R. 124, ll. 12-13. The law, in the prosecutor’s estimation, “requires a little more diligence on someone who is willing to act on appearances and use deadly force to kill somebody.” R. 124, ll. 13-16.

The prosecutor concluded that “because there is a conflicting account of what happened that night, that there is evidence that [Wilson was the aggressor in this situation], then immunity [did] not apply and it’s a question of defense of others that should be submitted to the jury.” R. 125, ll. 16-21; see also, R. 77, ll. 4-10. Again incorrectly, the state argued Petitioner was required to prove “*beyond* a preponderance of the evidence that self-defense did apply, that [Wilson] was not at fault,” which had not been done because there was conflicting evidence. R. 125, ll. 22-24 (emphasis added). The case presented “the word of two witnesses” and “because it’s essentially word versus word, that that is a determination that the jury should make and they haven’t proven it to the standard that is required in this case law as the self-defense and defense of others standard.” R. 126, ll. 1-6.

Defense counsel first directly refuted the solicitor's claim that because there was conflicting testimony, the judge could not grant immunity to Petitioner. Counsel explained:

[I]n any civil case, the standard is preponderance of the evidence. Further, there's conflicting testimony on both sides all the time. The testimony on both sides does not have to be [unanimous], it's simply who has shown their case to be more like true than not. That's what preponderance of the evidence means.

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