RECEIVED

Jan 31 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge
Court of General Sessions

Opinion No. 2020-UP-269 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 23, 2020).
Appellate Case No. 2021-000062

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JOHN WILLIAM MCCARTY, PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General

South Carolina Office of the
Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

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

ARGUMENT

The Protection of Persons and Property Act provides immunity from criminal prosecution for a person who has used deadly force, if the trial court, after a *Duncan* hearing, finds the person was justified in using such force. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2015); *Duncan*, 392 S.C. at 410, 709 S.E.2d at 665 (setting forth the procedure, standard of review, and burden of proof for an immunity determination). By passing the Act, the Legislature intended to allow law-abiding citizens, their families, and others to protect themselves from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution. S.C. Code § 16-11-420(B). “[N]o person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal” S.C. Code § 16-11-420(E).

“Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense.” *Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. at 451, 827 S.E.2d at 568. “Where a house [or] premises . . . is jointly occupied, used, and possessed by two persons, as by partners, joint tenants, or tenants in common, each joint occupant, being equally entitled to possession, need not retreat when attacked while in the building or premises by the other joint occupant.” *State v. Gordon*, 128 S.C. 422, 426, 122 S.E. 501, 502 (1924). An invited guest of a resident has an equal right to be in the dwelling or premises as the resident. S.C. Code Ann § 16-11-440(B).⁹ “The Castle Doctrine rule is predicated on the absence of aggression or fault on the defendant’s part in bringing on the difficulty; the doctrine is for defensive, and not offensive purposes.” *State v. Grantham*, 224 S.C. 41, 45, 77 S.E.2d 291, 292 (1953); *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 406 S.E.2d at 266.

⁹ See generally *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019) (finding the appellant’s argument for immunity failed solely on the issue of whether he had a right to be there).

To obtain immunity, a defendant must either satisfy all four elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence, to the trial court's satisfaction, or three of the elements plus Sections (A) and (B) *or* Section (C) of the Act if it applies.¹⁰ *Glenn*, 429 S.C. at 108, 838 S.E.2d at 491. A preponderance "stated simply is that evidence which convinces us as to its truth." *Semken v. Semken*, 379 S.C. 71, 75, 664 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2008). A defendant must prove his argument carries the day by "the greater weight of the evidence not necessarily established by the greater number of witnesses testifying to a fact but by evidence that has the most convincing force." Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009).¹¹

The trial court must consider the elements of self-defense in determining whether a movant has met his burden:

- (1) He was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) He actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If his defense is based upon his actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and
- (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

If the judge finds a defendant has failed to satisfy one of the first two elements of self-defense, he or she may deny immunity and the case proceeds. *See State v. Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010) ("It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not

¹⁰ Section (A) sets forth when a person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent death; Section (B) establishes when that presumption does not apply; and Section (C) establishes when a person has no duty to retreat before using deadly force.

¹¹ A preponderance of the evidence is, "Superior evidentiary weight that, though not sufficient to free the mind wholly from all reasonable doubt, is still sufficient to incline a fair and impartial mind to one side of the issuer rather than the other." *Id.*

been established if any one element is disproven.”). A judge is not required to accept the accused’s version of the underlying facts in making his or her determination. *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 371. If the place of the incident was a place the victim also had an equal right to be when the deadly force was exercised, the defendant is not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear from Sections (A) and (B) and must apply and analyze not only the elements of self-defense above, but also prove those of Section (C) at his hearing:

- (1) he was not engaged in unlawful activity;
- (2) he was attacked;
- (3) he was in a place he had the right to be; and
- (4) he reasonably believed the use of deadly force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or others.

S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) (2015); *Jones*, 416 S.C. at 294–97, 301, 786 S.E.2d at 138–39, 142.

If a defendant convinces the judge that his version of the facts are more believable, by the greater weight of the evidence, the court must grant immunity. *Id.* As long as the appellate court can discern a legally correct basis on which the court relied, it should affirm the trial court. *Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569. “The appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Winkler*, 388 S.C. 574, 582–583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010).

I. Judge Verdin based her denial of immunity on evidence in the record and correctly found Petitioner had not presented enough evidence to convince her that Wilson was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. She analyzed the elements and made her ruling; only then did she address the conflicting evidence.

Mitchell Bradley was neither a criminal, an intruder on McCarty's property, or an attacker; he was an invited guest. Petitioner now argues he is entitled to relief because Judge Verdin abused her discretion by using the now-taboo words "quintessential jury question" in her Order denying immunity. The State disagrees and submits Petitioner's argument is without merit. Judge Verdin first set out the correct burden of proof and rightly considered the evidence before concluding Petitioner had failed to meet his burden. Only then did she conclude the evidence also presented a jury question. As the self-defense element "he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty" is presented first in the list, and Judge Verdin found Petitioner failed to prove it, she did not have the legal duty to analyze the remaining elements of self-defense.¹²

"A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which an appellate court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review." *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. A trial court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law, or when its factual conclusions are without evidentiary support. *Jones*, 411 S.C. at 290, 786 S.E.2d at 136. "[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow [the appellate court] to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the [circuit] court's assessment of witness credibility." *Douglas*, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237–238.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals correctly upheld Judge Verdin's denial of immunity in September of 2020. *State v. McCarty*, 2020-UP-269 at 1. As the fact-finder, she considered the

¹² *Bixby, supra.*

evidence and found McCarty had failed to meet his burden of proof, or, convince her of the truth of his assertion: that Wilson was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. As she correctly analyzed the elements of self-defense and reached a factual and legal conclusion, it was not an abuse of her discretion to then acknowledge the wisdom and necessity of allowing a jury to also wrestle with the evidence at his trial: McCarty's second chance at proving self-defense. "Th[e elemental structure of self-defense] places the burden on the defendant to produce some evidence to support the existence of each element." *State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 249, 830 S.E.2d 904, 906 (2019). If, on the other hand, she *was* to only hear the evidence and then merely conclude a "quintessential jury question" had arisen, that *would* be an error of law under this Court's holding in *Andrews*. However, the correctly Court of Appeals found Judge Verdin made a conclusion after weighing the evidence herself, and properly upheld her Order.

In *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, this Court held that trial courts are not required to automatically deny immunity just because conflicting evidence exists. *Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. at 451, 827 S.E.2d at 469. "The court must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act. Of course, at the conclusion of any given hearing, if the circuit court determines the movant has not met his burden of proof as to immunity, the case will go to trial" *Id.* Read as a whole, and considering the Order along with Judge Verdin's questions during the hearing, the Order reveals she sat as the fact-finder, weighed the evidence, and applied the correct burden of proof. Her words confirm she understood her role as fact-finder and did not automatically send the case to a jury just because conflicting evidence existed. Instead, her words demonstrate Petitioner failed to convince her that he was entitled to immunity by the greater weight of the evidence. He failed to meet his burden.

Petitioner argues Judge Verdin had a duty to make credibility findings to the extent there was conflicting evidence during the immunity hearings. (Petition at 14). He does not cite legal precedent to back up his credibility findings claim. Although express credibility findings of the type Petitioner demands may be a wise practice, there is no legal duty requiring them and their absence would not constitute an abuse of discretion. Controlling precedent simply provides the circuit court must “sit as the fact finder,” “weigh the evidence,” and “reach a conclusion.”

However, in her denial of immunity, Judge Verdin did implicitly rule on the credibility of the witnesses. The court only heard two versions of events: Jacob Kirk claimed Randy Wilson was at fault, and Randy Wilson claimed Mitchell Bradley was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. “While the Act does not require a written order upon an immunity determination, specific findings of fact and conclusions of law are critical to reviewing courts” *Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. at 452, 827 S.E.2d at 569. To deny immunity, the court would *have* to find Kirk’s version of events more credible than Wilson’s.¹³ The record shows that both Wilson and Bradley instigated and continued the argument at different times during the evening; however, when the police left, Wilson shouted back at them, “you’ll have to come back.” This indicated he was anticipating further violence and, sure enough, he did in fact continue the argument immediately after the police departed. He was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Thus, the court’s credibility assessment is evident from the words, “We find the Defendant failed to meet his burden because he did not prove Wilson was without fault in bringing on the difficulty.” Simply put, the circuit court need not “show its work” as if it were solving a high school math problem. Judge Verdin placed the specific findings of fact and

¹³ Petitioner McCarty conceded on cross-examination that he did not know who was at fault in bringing about the conflict. (R. 60).

conclusions of law on the record this Court requires: she identified the element Petitioner did not meet and held Petitioner had not met his burden in meeting it. She demonstrated she weighed the evidence by the questions she asked during the hearing and stated she was not convinced Wilson was faultless because of the conflicting evidence in the record, as stated above. As Judge Verdin's conclusions are supported the record, this Court should not attempt to reweigh the credibility of the witnesses or assess whether the Petitioner really did meet his burden of proof.

In *State v. Andrews*, the parties both presented conflicting accounts of a homicide at an immunity hearing. *Andrews*, 424 S.C. 304, 818 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2018). It was unclear whether the defendant followed the victim out of the home or whether the victim was forcing his way into the defendant's home when the defendant exercised lethal force. *Id.* at 309, 818 S.E.2d at 230. The trial court held the defendant had failed to meet his burden of proof, noting that inconsistent witness testimony created a jury question. *Id.* at 311, 818 S.E.2d at 231. On appeal, the defendant argued the circuit court had a duty to make credibility findings on the record because conflicting testimony existed. He also argued the circuit erred in ruling the inconsistent testimony made the claim of self-defense a "quintessential jury question." *Id.* at 314–315, 818 S.E.2d at 233.

This Court disagreed with both arguments, finding the "circuit court properly submitted the case to the jury." *Id.* at 316, 818 S.E.2d at 234. In other words, the circuit court's finding that the inconsistent testimony created a "quintessential jury question" did *not* indicate that the court failed to act as a fact-finder at the immunity hearing. Instead, the finding indicated that he was not immune from prosecution *because* the defendant failed to prove his case at hearing. As such, his claim presented a question for the jury. *Id.* at 315, 818 S.E.2d at 234. This case presents an identical situation and should be upheld for the same reason. The circuit court sat as fact-finder,

weighed the evidence, and reached a conclusion in this case. Petitioner has taken portions of the circuit court order out of context and attempts to derive a meaning that is inconsistent with both the plain text of the Order and the court's statements at the hearing. Read as a whole, the circuit court Order applies the correct burden of proof and aligns with controlling precedent.

II. Judge Verdin rightly denied immunity after finding Petitioner failed to prove the first element of self-defense. An individual who provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense or immunity under the Act.

Petitioner argues he presented enough evidence to be entitled to immunity under the Act at the hearing, and that the Court of Appeals erred in upholding Judge Verdin's denial of immunity. The State disagrees and submits Petitioner's argument is without merit. An individual who provokes or initiates an assault may not assert self-defense. *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). Stated differently, "any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for homicide." *Id.* The State presented evidence that Wilson was rummaging through and throwing Bradley's cigarettes on the ground. While not the worst crime in history, that is still unlawful and "reasonably calculated to produce the occasion." Wilson knew it would stir up anger in Bradley.

Moreover, "the plea of self-defense is not available to one who uses language so opprobrious that a reasonable man would expect it to bring on a physical encounter, and which did actually contribute to bringing it on." *State v. Strickland*, 389 S.C. 210, 215, 697 S.E.2d 681, 684 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *State v. Woodham*, 162 S.C. 492, 502, 160 S.E. 885, 889 (1931)). The record demonstrates Wilson raised his voice at Kirk first after Kirk interrupted his phone call to ask about the food in the microwave. He continued to yell at Bradley (*See* Defense Exhibit #2: the 911 call) and provoke him by dumping his beer or beers out, smacking another beer out

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